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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  We would like to try to get this hearing done in a couple of hours.  I do have a lot of questions.  And if you have opening statements, we sure would like to hear them, but I would like to in essence try to get to the questions first and see if we might be able to get to some of the information in your opening statement.  Of course, you can submit your opening statement.  But at the end of the day, I’d like to, given the short timeframe, get to some of the questions.  And if there is anything we missed, we will then go back and capture them in terms of your opening statement.


I do want to welcome you to the Senate Governmental Organization Committee.  For those of you who are here today, let me state the course.  You know now that state government is not closed for the holidays.  We are still here, as is evident through this informational hearing.  I also want to say thank you for all the participants for being here.  We know it’s a tough week but we think this hearing is very much in order, given the timeframe of the implementation of this particular contract.


As most of you know in January of 2006, the Rome-based Lottomatica, an Italian lottery operator, became a top bidder to acquire GTECH, a holding company, for $4.65 billion which was a combination of stock and an extraordinarily large amount of debt.  It basically took over a Rhode-Island-based GTECH which is now a wholly owned subsidiary of Lottomatica.  GTECH’s stock has now been de-listed from the New York Stock Exchange, and Lottomatica will continue to be traded publicly, I understand, on the Milan Stock Exchange.

While GTECH is an important vendor, obviously, as you know, for the state of California, we should also state it is now in the hands of a foreign company, and it’s been reported that GTECH’s chief executive officer and the rest in the GTECH administration and management team will be responsible for running the new combined company, and it’s also been reported that Lottomatica’s acquisition offer also required GTECH to get approval from some of its key U.S. domestic customers.  And I do hope that the state of California is one of those customers.  The acquisition of GTECH by Lottomatica—can we just turn that down a bit, just a little echoey.  The acquisition of GTECH by Lottomatica raises many serious public policy questions.  Let me just list six of them that we hope to get through, through the hearing.


Number 1, What happens when a major California vendor that controls very sensitive information and data is acquired by a foreign company?  Number 2, What are our rights as a state?  Number 3, Have we exercised them correctly?  Number 4, Is our contracting system prepared for such occurrences?  Number 5, What responsibility does state government have and all of its agencies and entities in respect to informing the public under these types of circumstances?  And the last is, Which laws prevail?  Ultimately, in terms of conflicts between foreign-owned vendors, state law, federal law, international law, ultimately who will have the pre-emption issues, in terms of this particular contract?

I am thankful that we are talking about this in an open forum.  I believe that obviously that was the challenge for the California State Lottery and, quite frankly, a challenge for state government is to see what our roles are when we do have corporate consolidation and particularly where few international players control a large segment of the market.  The one I’ve read so far, and many of you have probably read most of my comments to the public, I’m not necessarily so confident that the state made the grade in terms of due diligence.  I seriously question at this point in time, how much due diligence was actually completed.  I wonder whether it’s enough, and I especially am concerned, given the very little documentation we have, and what discussions were available for review.  I’m thankful for my staff to have put together at least enough information for this hearing, but I am interested in trying to ask the questions that were not made evident in some of the public documents that the committee has.  I’d also like to get a better understanding today of how the Lottery responded and addressed the issue of acquisition of one of its major and key vendors, as I’ve mentioned, by a foreign company.

Let’s go ahead and start, if we could.  I’d like to start with Ms. Joan Borucki, the acting director of the California State Lottery, and Lottery Commissioner Mass.  Okay.  Thank you.


Thanks for joining us.  And maybe if you can identify yourself for the record and I have some questions.


MS. JOAN BORUCKI:  Senator, this is Joan Borucki, chief deputy director and acting director at the California State Lottery.


MR. JOHN MASS:  ​I’m John Mass, chairman of the California State Lottery.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. DONALD J. CURRIER:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  My name is Don Currier.  I’m the chief legal counsel of the California State Lottery.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you all for joining us.

Let’s, if I could, start out with some questions.  Let’s talk about GTECH in general first, if I could.  What I’d like to ask any of you—and Ms. Borucki, I’ll start with you or anyone on the panel—to give me your answers.


First of all, the services that GTECH is contracted to provide the state of California Lottery.  What are those services so we can get a clear understanding of that?


MS. BORUCKI:  There are basically three main areas of services.  One is, they provide equipment or machines, which we lease from them.  The other is what I would call the network infrastructure which is, or communications, between our retailers and the gaming operations, and the last is the actual gaming operations or the software support, the different mechanisms that make our games run.  And that’s basically what they’re under contract for.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And this contract has been in effect since when?


MS. BORUCKI:  This contract went into effect in 2004.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And when is it set to expire?


MS. BORUCKI:  Two thousand nine.  There are some options to extend.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And is that extension provision then, is that one of the options in terms of the…


MS. BORUCKI:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how would you characterize the contract and the services provided like GTECH is?  As you’ve mentioned the three, these were made on a competitive basis?  Were they made on a sole source contract?

MS. BORUCKI:  In reviewing the files, it was a competitively bid contract, a yearlong process, actually, where an RFP was issued, and it was competitively bid.  GTECH came in substantially lower, somewhere around $340 million lower than the next bidder.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And that process I’m interested in.  And so they were the highest—excuse me—the lower bidder.  And when we entered the contract with them, did the Lottery director simply approve it, or did it require a vote of the Lottery Commission  I mean, ultimately…

MS. BORUCKI:  That required approval of the Lottery Commission.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you couldn’t just enter into this as a Lottery director?


MS. BORUCKI:  No.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So what makes this any different?


MS. BORUCKI:  What makes what any different?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  This vision on—I mean, it seems as though we have a precedent which is we have a competitive bid.  It’s very public, lowest bidder probably back and forth in terms of contract; it goes to the Lottery Commission; they vote on it.  There seems to be a lot of discussion in the record, given this decision back at that time in 2004.  Very little information of that sort for this decision, which is a big decision as well.  It’s a company that’s being taken over by a larger company.  Why would the lottery director be able to enter into that agreement and not have to go to the Lottery Commission, given this is…

MS. BORUCKI:  Actually, the Lottery director, acting director, myself, did not enter into any agreement.  What we in essence gave was a negative assurance that there was nothing that we found in either the financial due diligence or the security and background checks that would cause us to terminate our contract, existing contract, with GTECH.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So as part of GTECH’s contract, they had to get some key vendors to, in essence, say everything is fine.  Is California one of those?


MS. BORUCKI:  Actually, GTECH pursued that negative assurance with all of the states in the U.S. that they had contracts with.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the information that GTECH handles, would you characterize that as highly sensitive to the integrity of the Lottery?


MS. BORUCKI:  It is our gaming operations.  Yes.  I’d characterize what they do for us as integral to the integrity of our operations, and that’s why we so closely oversee everything that goes on there.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And given that integrity of operations that you stated, they currently go through background checks then?



MS. BORUCKI:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And who conducts those background checks?


MS. BORUCKI:  I have a Security and Law Enforcement Division with sworn police officers that does all of our criminal background checks.  They operate using databases from the Department of Justice as well as the FBI.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And GTECH use any sub-vendors?


MS. BORUCKI:  Not that I’m aware of.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Anyone?  Are they allowed to do that under contract?


MS. BORUCKI:  It’s not part of the contract.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Not part of the contract.  So there’s no provisions of the contract to allow them to sub-vendor this process?


Are there any other security measures—you can look for that as we move forward—but are there any other security measures in place with respect to GTECH?  I know I’ve mentioned background checks—other types of security measures—data transmission, data storage?


MS. BORUCKI:  We have a number of security issues.  As a matter of fact, we subject GTECH to a security audit on an annual basis to make sure they’re complying with the terms of the contract and what we’ve laid out in the contract as far as—and it goes beyond the personnel.  It also goes to access to the system.  It goes to everything, all the way down to who has passwords and who doesn’t have passwords and same rigorous to Lottery employees.  We do the same kind of background and security checks and rules with even our retailers.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s just switch for a moment to the question about the acting director.  So you are acting director of the California Lottery; is that right?


MS. BORUCKI:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does that mean you still have Senate confirmation, correct?

MS. BORUCKI:  No.  I have not been appointed director.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You have to go through…


MS. BORUCKI:  Well, I have to be appointed first.  I have actually been appointed as the chief deputy director.  I am acting director until such time a director is employed.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, in other words, the governor still has to appoint an acting director for…


MS. BORUCKI:  Director for confirmation, yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how long have you held your position?


MS. BORUCKI:  Since April 3.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Of this year?


MS. BORUCKI:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And prior to the Lottery, any other positions?


MS. BORUCKI:  I was chair of the Unemployment Insurance Appeals Board.  Prior to that, as the director of the Department of Motor Vehicles.  Prior to that, I was the chief deputy director at the California Transportation Commission.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And do you plan on seeking a permanent position as the director here?


MS. BORUCKI:  That’s up to the Governor’s Office, what they want to do.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And is there a thought on a proposed confirmation date for an active director—or excuse me—for a director for the lottery?


MS. BORUCKI:  I’m not aware of anything, Senator.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So do you consider—is this a temporary position, full, or…


MS. BORUCKI:  I rather enjoy doing the chief deputy director job at the Lottery, yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s switch for a moment to the due diligence that I mentioned, I think, earlier, a little bit about the investigation, I think you’ve mentioned earlier about sending folks, and particularly talking about some lessons we might be able to learn from this due diligence, type of review.  Obviously, the accountability and public policy questions are tantamount in terms of trying to get to some answers on this particular contract.


The big picture, how would you characterize the acquisition of GTECH by Lottomatica?  How would you characterize it?  I mean…


MS. BORUCKI:  In what way, Senator?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I mean, GTECH is a major vendor, obviously, right?  We’ve talked about the integrity; we’ve talked about it being part and parcel of the Lottery itself.  Do you have a perspective in terms of this acquisition by an Italian-based company, privately held no FPPC types of reporting requirements?  And we’ll go into those a little bit more.  But I mean, did you have a general characterization of it, or is this just kind of a standard, pro forma—we just have to have a negative—what was the term used?

MS. BORUCKI:  Negative assurance.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Negative assurance.


MS. BORUCKI:  Actually, in the industry and what we see, we actually see a lot of acquisitions, mergers, change in companies, change in ownership.  We’re constantly going in with all our vendors, no matter how big the contract is or how small the contract is and doing the due diligence every time we’re alerted to one of these and it’s disclosed to us that this has happened or they’ve acquired another company or whatever, we’re constantly going in and redoing any time there’s even just a change in one board member on any of our contracts.  So from that point of view, it was, we need to do this; this is our standard practice and we’re going to go through the due diligence and the security and the background checks.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So this wasn’t a worsened situation for you.  This is kind of a normal consolidation of an industry, nothing more to look at beyond that?  Are you telling us you’re used to these consolidations occurring and…


MS. BORUCKI:  We’re used to the frequency of them. This one was—I must say—on the financial due diligence, was probably a greater effort because it did impact so many of the states, state lotteries throughout the United States.  And to have the states all come together to do the financial due diligence and the security background checks was a little more unusual than what usually happens in these circumstances but I think proved in the end it could be very worthwhile and was appropriate in this case.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The attorney is here—but I mean, are you in charge of writing the contract, reviewing them, reviewing performance?  I mean, who ultimately at the Lottery’s responsible for that type of work?


MR. CURRIER:  Unfortunately, I can’t speak from experience, since I’ve only been in the position for a short time.  But I know that the contract was reviewed by our contracting office and by our legal office, and I’ve spoken with some of the attorneys that did that review.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And is it fair to say they were very involved in the due-diligence effort then?


MR. CURRIER:  Absolutely.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And if the Lottery is, in essence, since I have you, challenged in court by a vendor over a contract, for example, which state agency defends the Lottery in terms of the court cases?  Is that the attorney general…


MR. CURRIER:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is it yourself, legal representatives?


MR. CURRIER:  Well, both.  I mean, we would be the initial contact.  And then if it’s beyond our scope, if it’s actually a lawsuit, then it would be the attorney general.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. CURRIER:  And that would be the gaming section.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  In their contract, in the current contract of 2004, did GTECH have any language in regard to acquisition of the company, or is this just something that…


MR. CURRIER:  No.  There is—we have standard clauses in our agreements and one of which is an assignment.  And in many ways, the Lottery looked at this as an assignment, although it really isn’t one.  The name wasn’t changed.  The entity that we are doing business with has remained the same.  And so there are no provisions in our standard agreement to cover mergers.  And in preparation for this hearing, our attorneys talked to DGS to see what the practices of other state agencies are.  And generally, according to DGS legal, that’s not a common practice.


What is important to us in all of our reviews is the continuity and continued operation of the contract and the vendor’s ability to do that.  And with particular regard to the Lottery, is the continued integrity of the Lottery.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  When you say continued, I assume what you’re saying is that you’re concerned about the continued management team.


MR. CURRIER:  Absolutely, Senator.  What we want to make sure is that they are able to continue their performance without interruptions.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How do you do that?  Maybe I’m an old investment banker from mergers and acquisitions.  But how do you do that?  I mean, GTECH as a company itself—I’m sure the president, the CEO, don’t decide to fire themselves on any given day.  But when you now are, you know, part of Lottomatica with investors that maybe are 65 percent of the company and privately held, I mean, I’m sure the investors have the opportunity to get rid of the management team; is that correct?

MR. CURRIER:  Absolutely.  I mean, that’s one of the things that…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How is that protecting the game?  I mean, ultimately, if you’re concerned about a management team that’s stable, structured, and involved, yet they bought into a system that they bought out with someone that could come in tomorrow after this hearing and say, well, we thought it over and we’re going to eliminate the management team, I mean, did you get some assurances and contacted that the management team?
MR. CURRIER:  Yes.  That’s my understanding.  Again, Senator, unfortunately, I wasn’t here.  But in the review of the documents, we hired or NASPL hired the Grant Thornton folks to do a financial review and a thorough audit.  Part of that was a security investigation, but part of it was a financial review and it was a very thorough financial review and they received assurances that that kind of turbulence would not exist.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Grant Thornton—

MR. CURRIER:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  --gave you that assurance?

MR. CURRIER:  Well, it was revealed in the report, and GTECH gave us those assurances.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And were those assurance verbal, or are they in some sort of agreement—we can hang our hat on it and say absolutely?  I mean, for all this to work and for, I think, quite frankly, for this to make a lot of sense to folks is that you’re in essence saying that nothing’s changed; this is the same team; it’s the same company; all this change is the ownership structure of the—now what was once a holding company is now a subsidiary.  For all this work, that means that those folks have to be in place and can’t be eliminated by, if you will, Lottomatica.
MS. BORUCKI:  Actually, Senator, the assurances were in writing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Can you give us a copy of those?

MR. CURRIER:  I’m sure we can.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thanks.

MR. CURRIER:  But another point that I’d like to make, sir, is that even if they change their mind, those assurance were good at the time.  But if they wanted to bring on new directors or new officers or they sold some of their shares, the law provides us with the ability.  And in our contract, there are provisions for us to do background reviews on their management—on their officers, their directors, and their shareholders of more than 5 percent.  So in a publicly owned company, it’s more than 5 percent, we can review their backgrounds and get full disclosure.  If they’re privately held, it’s any ownership.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What if you don’t like it?  What if you say, we don’t want you to make that choice?

MR. CURRIER:  We have two choices.  We can ask them to remove the person or we can terminate the contract.  And those are basically their choices as well.  They can remove the person or they can terminate the contract by mutual agreement.  And we do have provisions of the contract that require them to cooperate with us during the termination and wind down.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So you talked to General Services, so we don’t really have a clause for acquisitions, and we don’t necessarily have any contingencies for corporate restructurings?  That’s pretty clear?

MR. CURRIER:  Only to the degree that an assignment is required.  Sometimes there’s a name change, and during an acquisition the rights and liabilities are transferred to another entity and we do have provisions for assignment.  And, of course, we have our disclosure provisions which exist all the time.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the—let’s got to the attorney general for a moment—the attorney general contacted, in terms of Lottomatica acquisition at GTECH?
MR. CURRIER:  There were some discussions about the fact that it was happening, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would you be surprised, as I was, at least the attorney general’s spokesperson, Mr. Barankin, said kind of, never heard of it.  So I mean, why…

MR. CURRIER:  I was surprised at the time.  But as I have more discussions with the Attorney General’s Office, they’re a fairly well-compartmentalized organization.  They have a lot of transactions; they give a lot of opinions about a lot of different topics.  Our conversations with the gaming section of the Attorney General’s Office are covered by the attorney-client privilege, so they would not be noting—they would not be distributing—their opinions throughout the office and telling people about the advice that they’re giving us, so the spokesperson would really have no way of knowing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So how would you characterize those conversations with the AG’s office then?

MR. CURRIER:  Very sparse.  And again, unfortunately, I wasn’t here so I can’t tell you about the exact nature of them.  But I do know that the Attorney General, someone in the Attorney General’s Office, had corresponded with one of our attorneys letting them know about this transaction.  Of course, we already knew, and that was the extent of this.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So who was that in the Attorney General’s Office?

MR. CURRIER:  That was Sarah Drake.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sarah Drake.

MR. CURRIER:  Supervising Deputy Attorney General.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so she was the contact person for this particular…

MR. CURRIER:  Well, her and Bob Mukai.  But again, Senator, I can’t—I certainly wouldn’t want to represent that there was a great deal or volume or that we had solicited any kind of opinion from them because I don’t believe that that was true.  I just don’t know where…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  … just to let you know?

MR. CURRIER:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is that normally how we operate with the Attorney General’s Office?

MR. CURRIER:  It depends on the topic.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about a big decision like this in acquisition?  It seems somewhat substantial.
MR. CURRIER:  Well, I understand from our perspective in legal, we would be concerned with the continuing integrity of the contract, which we normally would not work with the AG on unless it was the Department of Justice agents that our security staff work with.  We would, in the gaming section, talk to them about legal impacts, if we had a concern that this was an assignment that may or may not have been covered.  We may have asked them for an opinion.  But in my opinion, it’s pretty clear what the legal ramifications are of our contract.  And we wouldn’t have asked them for anything under the circumstances.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  So their participation in this was not important?

MR. CURRIER:  I would say it’s almost nonexistent.  We would ask them for an opinion…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I get that—it wasn’t important.

MR. CURRIER:  No.  I certainly would not consider their participation to be important to us.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. CURRIER:  Absolutely not.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And let’s, if we can talk about the acquisition in terms of the Lottery Commission itself, were they informed about the acquisition?

MR. CURRIER:  Yes.  They were.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And who contacted the Lottery?  Your staff or GTECH, or ultimately, is this from a letter?  I mean, how was the Commission notified?

MS. BORUCKI:  The commission was notified beginning at its January public meeting in January of 2006, as soon as the Lottery became aware of it.  They subsequently kept it as an agenda item at the next four meetings until the acquisition and merger was completed in August.  Both are head of accounting—Steve Pieri, and our deputy director for Security and Law Enforcement made presentations at those public meetings on the progress of both the financial due diligence, the Grant Thornton evaluation, as well as our own internal security due diligence.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so for each of those four meetings, the agenda item was basically a progress report?

MS. BORUCKI:  It was more than a progress report.  It was also, if there were any findings that were coming to light, if there were any issues of concern, and also so that the Commission understood what we were doing.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in those minutes, in those four meetings, did the word Rhode Island or Texas ever come up?

MS. BORUCKI:  Texas came up during the, I believe, the August meeting.  It also came up in some informal discussions between our deputy director for security and our commissioner who is our liaison for security, Manny Ortega.  I know Commissioner Mass and myself have talked about that as well when all that press was breaking.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But I guess the question is, in public, I mean how much discussion occurred in the structure of your meeting?  Because I think that’s really what matters to us, not informal conversation, just basically public could ascertain.

MR. JOHN MASS:  It was an agenda in each meeting so it was discussed.  We were brought up to date, so it was in a way a progress report, but then there was a lot of back and forth and questions and answers about that progress’s specific questions from various commissioners.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how would you characterize the biggest concern at that time, given all of those discussions?

MR. MASS:  I would say my biggest concern was maintaining the integrity of the Lottery, that there would be a smooth transition from the current GTECH ownership to the post-transaction ownership and that the management and maintenance of the California State Lottery maintained its professionalism and integrity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  In terms of your communication then with GTECH, was there communication just between staff and the Lottery Commission or did GTECH make any presentations at any of these four notice meetings?

MR. MASS:  I’m trying to remember if there was ever a presentation.  I don’t believe there is a specific presentation from GTECH about the transaction itself.  Do you recall?  I don’t believe there was.

MS. BORUCKI:  No.  Not from the time forward of April forward, that I was there.  And looking back at the minutes and the records of the January and February meetings, there were not formal presentations.  However, we are aware that then acting director/chief counsel of the Lottery prior to my getting there, had sat down and had a meeting or a presentation from GTECH’s CEO.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the notice and the discussion, I guess our going through this meeting, there was a discussion—oh, this is Oregon.  I guess what we were going through, we went through some of the minutes and discussions on some of the other commissions.  Oregon had actually GTECH’s CEO and vice-president come in and presented a business overview with their organization.  They gave reassurances about GTECH’s clients, et cetera.  Is that not the practice of our lottery to have those types, you know, the ultimate, might come before the commission, or is its staff driven so the Lottery in essence listens to the staff and never has the types of presentations that Oregon state had?  Going through the same due-diligence-type process?
MS. BORUCKI:  I suppose, Senator, if we were encountering a situation where we were running into issues that were causing us problems or perhaps we couldn’t get the information we needed to complete our financial due diligence or our security, we probably would have felt very at ease calling GTECH’s CEO before the commission.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you didn’t figure there was anything to worry about?

MS. BORUCKI:  But we weren’t having those kind of problems.  We were getting full cooperation.  We were getting the information we needed.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So Lottomatica or GTECH  never addressed the Commission, as they may have other commissions throughout the nation?

MS. BORUCKI:  Not while I was there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. BORUCKI:  Or while I’m there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Who in essence came up with the strategy on how we were going to proceed in this particular situation, in terms of the actual acquisition?  You mentioned January being a time.  Was there someone put in charge of this, or is there a game plan on how we were going to do due diligence?  We were relying simply on the Grant Thornton review.  I mean, ultimately, what was the plan, in terms of the review of this particular process?

MS. BORUCKI:  From my understanding of what occurred in January when it was, we were noticed that this was going to occur, the acting director/chief counsel at that time got on the phone with all the other chief counsels of all the other lotteries.  That is when they devise the strategy to come up with we need to do something jointly together.  And then at the same time, we, the California Lottery, concluded that we needed to do our own because it is required of us by the California Lottery Act to do our own security background checks as well as financial due diligence.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. BORUCKI:  I believe that was reported at the January Commission meeting.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so that the North American Association of State and Provincial Lotteries, that’s what you were mentioning as the group, right?

MS. BORUCKI:  Yes, eventually.  At first, it was informal; it was the states, and then they eventually looked to the organization, the national organization, to take it on.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So when the decision was made, given our special mandate and our California Lottery that you do your own investigative due diligence, was that then written in a memo on what that would look like?  Was it an informal discussion?  I mean, ultimately, when you do an investigation, does somebody write that out in terms of what would take place, a checklist, milestones?

MR. CURRIER:  The investigation was written, Senator…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Not after the fact.  I’m talking prior to it.

MR. CURRIER:  Of course, I have not seen anything.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I mean, was there any sort of…

MS. BORUCKI:  There was a plan that was developed and it was shared with our commissioner who is the liaison to security for his input, in essence, his approval.  But that’s not one that we would necessarily bring forward at a public meeting, only because we protect and value our different investigative methods, and we really don’t make those public.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did we hire someone else to do this investigation?

MS. BORUCKI:  No.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So this is all in house?

MS. BORUCKI:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  For every aspect of it?

MR. CURRIER:  Well, we did have some redundancy in the Grant Thornton investigation, but we did all of it ourselves.  We sent…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did we make a payment to Grant Thornton for participating in this…

MR. CURRIER:  Only as part of the consortium.  We did not contract with anyone else to do something on our behalf, other than the consortium with Grant Thornton as part of that NASPL organization.  But we actually sent agents to Italy.  Our agents conducted criminal background checks, both here with the FBI and then at the embassy in Rome.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How long were your agents there?

MR. CURRIER:  About two weeks.

MS. BORUCKI:  We were actually one of the first states to go over there and do the investigation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And where are your agents today, given this hearing?

MR. CURRIER:  We have Mr. Scott Ralston in the audience and…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And he was one of them that went?

MR. CURRIER:  Yes.  He was in Italy and he’s available to talk to you now if you would like the specifics.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yeah.  I might have some questions in a moment.  I’m just trying to get to the process of the due-diligence plan in terms of the investigation.  So there was a discussion where the commissioner who’s the liaison--

MS. BORUCKI:  To security.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  --to security that this was going to occur, but there was never any formal board action approving the actual due-diligence plan?
MS. BORUCKI:  The only formal discussion that took place was at the January Commission meeting where it was discussed what the California State Lottery would be doing in terms of financial and security due diligence and then also informing the Commission that the states were getting together and were going to be preparing an RFP to go out and hire someone.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m looking at your minutes of that meeting, and it says here that the report was, there’s currently a joint effort being coordinated by the New York Lottery to perform such fiscal analysis.  And it says, at this time, staff is still in discussions with Melissa Meith--I assume that was the past counsel, right?
MR. CURRIER:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  To determine what course of action should next be taken.  So from there, this meeting to what course should be taken in terms of due diligence, we don’t necessarily know what that was in terms of the last, going through your minutes, in terms of a report back to the board.  So Melissa; is that right?
MR. CURRIER:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  She was in essence going to—we’re going to have discussions about a course of action for due diligence that should have taken place and then—I’m missing a big gap there to something.  And then there was a report.  So something happened between Melissa who will coordinate and report, and there was nothing written in terms of due diligence, memorandum, guidance, got any of that.  So what am I missing there?  You guys are the Lottery.  You did it in house.

MR. MASS:  You know, because there have been a change in staff of both the acting director and the general counsel since this merger was announced, obviously some of the information may be in offices that we’re not aware of, so we can find that out.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in these background investigations, I think part of your minute discussion, was that the actual vendor, GTECH, would pay for their own background investigations.  You guys bought into that?  That was an okay thing?


MR. CURRIER:  That is customary, Senator.  It’s a burden that we place on our vendors.  We do the investigations and they pay for it, and that’s part of the contract and they agree to that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  You do the investigation?

MR. CURRIER:  Absolutely.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  I just wanted to make sure.

So these communicated steps, in terms of the due diligence, is, I guess somewhat puzzling to me because we have some agenda items.  We’ve gone through your minutes pretty extensively.  The items, in terms of the moving forward or strategy not really brought up at a public meeting, and I guess the ____ director’s reason for that is, it’s very highly sensitive and therefore can’t be discussed in a public manner?
MR. CURRIER:  Well, I would say certainly some of our investigative techniques could not or should not be discussed in public forum because, if they are, then anything that would give an opportunity for someone else to learn the specifics so that they can skirt them in the future would be something that we would be reluctant to discuss publicly.  But certainly there are things that we can talk about publicly.  They did backgrounds on 23 different people from the Lottomatica and De Agostini ownership in their disclosure.  They talked to at least eight different agencies in Italy to do their criminal background due diligence and, of course, they had to navigate a variety of obstacles with different laws and privacy requirements.  But they had a lot of cooperation from the U.S. Embassy and the FBI in Italy.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s talk about, if you could, whether or not—I think California’s approval was part and parcel necessary for the acquisition and, of course, and I’m going to remember this term before the end of the hearing.  You called it a negative…

MS. BORUCKI:  Assurance.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Negative assurance.  So was that necessary then, that negative assurance for Lottomatica and the acquisition to take place in your mind, from California?

MR. CURRIER:  In my opinion, Senator, if we had deliberately withheld that, then I think we would have had some legal exposure.  We signed a contract with them, and one of the implied terms of that contract is not to interfere with the activities of one another that are within the bounds of that contract.  And if we had deliberately withheld without cause, our negative assurances, which we should actually provide at time; and to do otherwise, I think, would be an anticipatory breach.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You’re saying that we were with a gun to our head then at this point, so the negative assurance kind of had to be forthcoming or we would have illegal exposure, given the way our contract was structured?

MR. CURRIER:  I just think that any time you sign a contract with another party, then you, when asked, need to give assurances unless you have cause not to, that you will continue with the contract.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And this kind of approval, did this come in a letter, a vote taken, or what kind of negative assurance—I mean, what kind of process is that?  Did that go to the board, the board says, sure, we get thumbs up for the negative assurance and then we write a letter or is it a vote by the board?

MR. CURRIER:  It can take a variety of different forms.  In this case, it was in a form of a letter written by GTECH that asked for negative assurances.  It was signed by our acting director.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the board’s—the discussion in this Commission?

MR. MASS:  I don’t think there was any discussion specifically related to that letter.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.
MR. CURRIER:  Because there’s no new obligation, whether or not I’d withhold any comment on whether or not it was proper for the commission to take a formal vote, it certainly wasn’t required under the law.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Didn’t have to do it, so…

MR. CURRIER:  And that’s really all I can comment on at this point.  Since I wasn’t there and I wasn’t party to the discussions, I’m not exactly sure and I don’t want to speculate on what their thought process was.  But if I were asked today, are we required to take this to the Commission for approval, my answer would be, no, you’re not required.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Would that be the opinion of the acting lottery?

MS. BORUCKI:  Actually, Senator, when I got on board in April and was briefed on all matters Lottery and this came up in that briefing, my question was to the chief counsel at that time, Well, what’s required of us and what’s required of the Commission, at which time it was explained to me—we keep the Commission informed; we let them know what’s going on, but this isn’t a matter that the Commission has to approve or sign.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And Commission, would you like to see it, or are you just—would you like to see these types of things come before your…

MR. MASS:  Well, I think we have a lot of discussion beforehand, and we supplied a lot of information along the way since January.  I felt in my own opinion, and I can’t speak for my commissioners, the other commissioners, but I know that I felt that, should I need more information or felt that it required a vote and more formal discussion, that I would have been obliged.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Okay.  The timeframe for this approval process, was there a particular date that we had to give GTECH in terms of making this happen?

MS. BORUCKI:  It was when we were comfortable with our financial due diligence and our security review and not until then.  They may have had a date, but the driving force was when we were comfortable with our financial due diligence in the security review.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so there’s still not a drop-dead date on this?  If the governor would have called you today and said, look, I really would hope that you guys would hold off on this hearing, I want to look into this a little more, or is it done, right?

MS. BORUCKI:  It’s done.  It’s done, Senator.  The merger was completed at the end of August, I believe.  GTECH can probably tell you more exactly.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  We’re going to ask them some questions.

And in terms of the communication then between parties, we did our due diligence—we flew over there—but in terms of GTECH, Lottomatica, and the state of California, are these ongoing discussions?  I know we have that big gap of not having a due-diligence plan.

MS. BORUCKI:  Actually, I went back through the minutes, the copies of the minutes that I had, and our director of Security and Law Enforcement, Bill Hertoghe, did put together what he always refers to as a game plan, but it is his due-diligence plan of action back in January and did discuss that with Commissioner Ortega at that time to get his blessing on the steps and actions that they were going to take, and then they immediately proceeded from that time forward into their action plan.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s, if I could, let’s talk a little bit about, at least my view, my view only, probably, and I’d like to get your opinion on the various paths that other states took, in terms of due diligence, namely, you mentioned Texas.  Maybe you can start there.  But let me start with Rhode Island.  There seems to be two different paths taken.  One is a cursory type review.  It’s not a big issue.  The management team’s in place.  We’re just going to make sure we kind of fly over and make sure everything’s fine.  The other is a more detailed, open review, one where there is much more public discussion, much more, in my opinion, a more forthright review.  And I’m just using that as going through minutes of other commissions, and there’s much discussion that was given to it—and money put towards it—whether it’s Texas or Rhode Island.

Now I’d like to just kind of get your opinion.  I mean, for example, the state of Rhode Island completed a six-month, $2.5 million investigation to the merger and that concluded with the public forum on the investigation itself and, in fact, I believe there was a full presentation with conclusions made to the Lottery Commission from the accounting firm, an investigative company, and a law firm that was looking into GTECH in terms of this merger.  And there was a public-comment period for about a week after this process.  So I guess from my vantage point, did we not see any value in having that type of public forum in terms of the acquisition of GTECH by Lottomatica here?

MS. BORUCKI:  Senator, our investigation took almost six months to complete as well.  I would say that our Security and Law Enforcement team that we had doing this background check and security check were probably some of the best in the country out of all the states.  I don’t think the other states come close to what we did in our investigation.  It may look like it.  We had a few other states that tagged along.  We shared information back and forth between the states, but I have complete faith in what that team did and the in-depth review that they went through and the numerous people that they talked with as well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I think I mentioned that we didn’t’ hire any outside help, as some of those states did, in terms of due-diligence efforts.  So you’re saying your investigative team itself did that; is that correct?

MS. BORUCKI:  Yes.  Not all other state lotteries have their own internal security division which I would never see the California State Lottery operating without.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And given that your investigative in-house team went through this from your vantage point very thoroughly over six months, why not a public presentation of the findings?  Why not, for all this good work, give the public—I mean, we are the lotteries, I think, public entity—why not make that part and parcel of it?
MS. BORUCKI:  We did discuss the findings at four different commission meetings which are open to the public as well as—once I got there in April, we also videoed those meetings and they are on the Web, accessible on our Web now, as well as the agenda and the written book items.

MR. CURRIER:  And at every commission meeting, there’s an opportunity for public comment.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would you agree this was probably not as public as it was in Rhode Island?

MR. CURRIER:  Well, from what I understand, Senator, I would have to agree, but I would also say that their headquarters is in Rhode Island, and there were a lot of other surrounding issues involving a purchase of a Rhode Island company that were not addressed here and needn’t have been addressed here.  Our focus was on the continued integrity of the Lottery and the continued performance on their contract.  If they were headquartered here, I think we probably would have taken a little bit different approach because of the potential employees affected and their whole host of other issues that are involved when the actual headquarters is here.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So there was no public-comment period so that Californians could review or comment on it, at least in this process?
MR. CURRIER:  Only during the public meetings, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s sufficient to you?

MR. CURRIER:  Well, sir, I don’t know if I’m the right guy to ask whether or not if it was sufficient.  It was sufficient for our purposes.  Public policy-wise, I would defer to you.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, I’ll give you my opinion.  (Laughter)  It just seems to me, that just on the short of my opinion, it seems that as though Rhode Island was so much a more open and transparent process.  That’s just from my view of the minutes and looking in our view.  That’s the only thing I can look at, are the minutes.  And it seems to me that, at least in terms of an open and public process, that it just didn’t happen here in California the way I had looked, maybe at some states.  Let’s talk about a state that’s not here.  I guess we’ll talk about Texas for a minute.  Texas, in your timeframe, is at the end of January 2006.  Now they do have the Texas Criminal Intelligence Services, CIS.  Is that…

MS. BORUCKI:  Texas had eliminated their own, internal security division.  So they no longer had an internal security division at the time that this all took place.  They do now, and so they had to contract with their Department of Public Safety.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so they sent six investigators, and two civilians were assigned to the investigation, about 3,000 hours spent on this effort alone.  Is that comparable, do you think, what California did?

MR. CURRIER:  Well, I would not say that our investigations were comparable, Senator.  Talking to our investigators, their lottery agents and they do backgrounds a lot.  This is their business.  And talking to the undercover drug investigators that were sent over to Italy from Texas, they really didn’t have the skills, knowledge, and ability that our investigators do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. BORUCKI:  I would make the point, Senator, that just because another state spent more money or more time did not mean that they were more efficient or effective.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I would agree there.  I guess maybe the transparency is what they were maybe better at.  They actually posted an overview of their investigation on the website.  Do we have an overview of our investigation on our website?

MS. BORUCKI:  No.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do we have any transcribed minutes as they do on our website?

MS. BORUCKI:  Yes.  We do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We do.  And that would be transcribed minutes of the investigation outcomes?

MS. BORUCKI:  What we have on the website is the discussion and the presentation that we made to the commission, both a video of the actual presentation, and then the minutes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there any overview of due-diligence investigation being completed by the California Lottery, on the Lottery’s website?

MS. BORUCKI:  Just in reference to the minutes in the videotapes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the transcripts, in terms of public hearings on the investigation, those are on the website?

MS. BORUCKI:  We have the videos and the minutes on there.  We click on the agenda item and it should come up.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Agenda bullets, right, that we looked at?  You can scan through the minutes how we’re able to get…
MR. CURRIER:  Yes.  But I just wanted to correct you on one thing.  You said public hearing, and we had public meetings but no public hearings.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Maybe that’s an important distinction.  The Texas report—not to say that they spent more money and had more people and we had less and did a more thorough job, but did anyone from the California Lottery read the Texas report?

MS. BORUCKI:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. BORUCKI:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I guess you found it was a pretty…

MS. BORUCKI:  And actually not just read it, but they were in contact with the agents as well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, okay.  If I could then, here’s some of the concerns on GTECH’s coming up next.  I guess when I read it, I think the first thing that struck me was it was, quote, where it says GTECH has an aggressive business entity and has a past history of protecting its contracts by lawsuits and are pursuing new contracts with sometimes questionable actions on how it began.  And it also pointed out the founders had been offered to bribe Richard Branson of Virgin Atlantic Airlines in England in an attempt to gain a contract.  Were these worth mentioning at your public meeting?

MS. BORUCKI:  These are all past issues that our security division had previously been aware of.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  How about for the new lottery directors that were commission members who were just confirmed by the governor?  They know about all these past stories?

MS. BORUCKI:  You know, I didn’t have them as part of my briefing.

MR. CURRIER:  I would say, Senator, that the focus, from what I’ve been able to see, a focus of the due diligence that was done by our security division, was the new players on the scene, the Lottomatica merger, the new things that would be brought to the table and could impinge the integrity of the Lottery or that could affect the continued operation of the contract…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  You mean these two don’t concern you?

MR. CURRIER:  No, Senator, not at all.  I did not say that, and I would not say that.  I would say that those would be of continuing interest to our security division all the time, and actions like that are always looked for and monitored and, when appropriate, investigated.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The reason I asked about the Texas report is you were, as you said, you read the Texas report and I guess you mentioned these were old incidents.  And I didn’t get your comment on whether they were worth mentioning or not.

MS. BORUCKI:  And I may get the timeframes wrong, but some of the incidences had occurred at the time that the California Lottery was entering into the original contract with GTECH and had been vetted and discussed at that time.  Off the top of my head right now, I can’t go back and tell you which ones and when and that.  If they were something that the Security and Law Enforcement Division came into us and came to the commission meeting and said, you know, stop the presses, we have the issues, there’s something here, then, of course, we would have reacted appropriately to that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, that’s why we were wondering on the transparency—these are all public documents I’m mentioning from the Texas Department of Public Safety Intelligence Service.  And one of the things that might make you feel better or may not is that Bruce Turner, who is GTECH’s CEO, at least according to the Texas report, admitted the company’s past continues to follow them.  They will always be associated with the company that GTECH no longer conducts its operation in an unethical or questionable manner.  And is that your thought now that they no longer conduct themselves in that manner?
MS. BORUCKI:  In my nine months there, Senator, I have not encountered anything that was described, that kind of management style.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Obviously, the reason I mentioned these two from the Texas report is that we’ve all made very clear at the start of this line of questioning that GTECH, having operational control over this newly formed division of Lottomatica, is extremely important to us, and obviously a great amount of influence, in terms of prevailing corporate strategy and culture, is as important as what you’re buying into.  Your buying into a management team.  And so given that this decision was before the Lottery Commission, I’m just wondering whether or not they were as informed as some of the Texas commissioners or some of the Rhode Island commissioners in terms of some of these incidents, and I guess the answer is we didn’t think it was important or it was in the past and therefore not relevant, or what is it?  What’s the answer?  One of you.
MS. BORUCKI:  I can’t tell you what they were informed of prior to my walking in on April 3.  I can tell you we share daily news clips with them on anything of lottery industry news; anything that comes out, we share with them.  We try to keep them as well informed and apprised of everything and anything that’s going on as we can.  And I know between Commissioner Ortega and Deputy Director Hertoghe there’s a continuing discussion going on.  Something as simple as for terminating a retailer’s contract because they sold alcohol to minors to something, some of the bigger issues that we’re dealing with.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Ms. Borucki, you said you mentioned some of the Texas report.  Did it concern you in terms of GTECH’s situation in Brazil?  Did that come up in your investigator’s investigation of the GTECH/Lottomatica merger?

MS. BORUCKI:  Again, I believe in timeframe, Senator, that would have come up in previous investigations that we did with GTECH, not necessarily in some of the security and background checks that we were doing on Lottomatica.

MR. CURRIER:  I know that our security division is aware of that and has talked to the FCC about that.  But again, that wasn’t the focus.  It’s a continuing concern to us, any actions by any of our vendors that could impinge on our integrity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand that.  I’m just wondering, as the committee has oversight over the Lottery and given term limits and now obviously given, you know, the importance of knowing who our vendors are, even when you come in.  I mean, I wasn’t—you know, we did this in 2004.  I don’t think I was chairman of that committee then, but I do make it my business to at least go on the web and find records of discussions that are extremely important when there’s, you know, issues of extortion or payoffs in Brazil or these types of issues.  It just makes me, as an oversight committee, it makes us always want to ask the Lottery Commission and the directors the important questions of, you know, in essence, are you okay with this?
MR. CURRIER:  Knowing about those facts is extremely important to us.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And then why wasn’t it ever then discussed before the current Lottery Commission then, the commissioners who made a decision in essence to then extend a helpful hand to a merger but yet not have information like this before them?  I mean that’s important.  Why wouldn’t it be important to the new Commission?
MR. CURRIER:  Well, it is important, Senator, and I’m trying to articulate why it wasn’t important to the particular transaction at hand.  It’s of continuing importance.  The fact that GTECH did or didn’t do something that impinged their own credibility is important.  But the fact that they’re being purchased by another company, the previous indiscretion or alleged misconduct, is not necessarily material to the new acquisition, and that was the focus of our due diligence at that particular point.  Of course, it’s very important to our continued relationship with GTECH and our constant evaluation as to whether or not we want to continue to do business with them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But as you make those decisions about doing business, you know, there was quite a bit of discussion, security discussion, about raised prices, failed to meet contract standards caused millions, damage to millions, in terms of public coffers, at least from the ministry of Brazil.  And given those are operational types of concerns documented, I mean it seems to me those are as important but we’ll take it face value, the fact that you may have seen this as the past; is that correct?

MR. CURRIER:  Well, it’s not necessarily as important that it occurred in the past as it occurred with GTECH and that the procurement by Lottomatica, which was the focus of their due diligence at the time, was not affected by that.  Again, it’s a continuing concern and it is very important to us, and I have every reason to believe that it was important to the security division at the time.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And did the security division, at least looking at the current management that would stay in place, make mention to you in audit report by Brazil’s federal public ministry that GTECH used fraudulent means to take over the contract to provide electronic and operating equipment for the Lottery?  Did anybody ever read that, or was that reported back to you in your thorough investigative report?

MR. CURRIER:  I can’t speak to that myself, Senator, because I wasn’t there at the time.  Since our security…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Just tell me you know about it.  I mean, that’s more of a concern than anything.

MR. CURRIER:  Introduce yourself.

MR. SCOTT RALSTON:  Mr. Florez, my name is Scott Ralston.  I’m a chief Lottery agent in our Security/Law Enforcement Division, and I was a manager who coordinated the Lottomatica investigation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So you flew over to Italy?

MR. RALSTON:  Yes.  I did.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  How was it?
MR. RALSTON:  It was cold.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Cold?

MR. RALSTON:  It was just after the Torrino Olympics, so there was still a snow on the ground.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  When you do that investigation—I don’t want to take too much of your time; I do have some questions on this—when you did the investigation, did you first start at the base, meaning, did you look at Brazil; did you look at some of the others that I mentioned earlier?  Like I mentioned Trinidad, Tobago, Poland, Czech Republic.  We can go down the list.  I mean, there’s everything from, you know, Poland, $18 million contracts where we can find very little to do from the contractor; there was $20 million loans to Czech Republic for, in essence, building sports stadiums.  I mean, there’s a whole host of, I mean, real documented issues by one of our vendors.  I mean, did you start from that base case, or did you just kind of…

MS. BORUCKI:  Actually, Senator, before Scott answers that, and I do want him to answer that for you, but just so that it’s clear what we were doing was our due diligence that we needed to do to investigate the merger with Lottomatica.  Any due diligence and  background investigation of GTECH would have occurred at the time that we entered into the contract with GTECH.  We are in a contract with GTECH so that the focus was primarily on the merger with Lottomatica and what would result after that, but I’ll let Scott answer.

MR. RALSTON:  Senator, in regards to your question, we’re Brazil.  That’s been an issue for several years now.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MR. RALSTON:  We have monitored it with other lotteries throughout this country.  I have been contact with security directors when Texas had a security division.  I contacted that individual.  We discussed the situation.  We discussed it with other security directors at these annual NASPL conferences.  At that particular time, because it was an open investigation, we did not want to impede on the Brazilian authority’s investigation so we stepped back to monitor it to see what the results would be. And to this day, to my knowledge, there have been no indictments or any convictions of anybody in Brazil that would warn us to further look at that incident at this time.  Now if that happens, we certainly will make recommendations to our director on how we should proceed.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Given that, how much, from an investigative point of view, weight was given to the Grant Thornton?  I mean, we’ve mentioned Grant Thornton quite a bit as kind of the launching point for this meeting.  Was the Grant Thornton going on simultaneously as you were doing your investigation?  Was it over?  Was it a base document?   How did you characterize the Grant Thornton report?

MR. RALSTON:  I would compare their report and our investigation as very comparable.  As far as timing wise, if I could, I could give you a little history of the transaction.  This transaction was noticed to the public in January of ’06.  Immediately, within days of that notice, I contacted the attorney for Lottomatica who’s handling the transaction and requested disclosure documents from all the Italian companies that were involved in transactions.  Those documents were filled out and sent to us in advance.  We prepared a detailed, investigative plan that had identified every individual of the corporation that we were going to investigate, and we had to, because had never dealt with Italy before, identify the Italian authorities who we felt we needed to contact to get a good, comprehensive overview of the company.

Once we did that, we prepared an investigative plan, submitted it to my director, Bill Hertoghe, who reviewed it and approved the plan.  Oregon asked if they could be involved in our investigation and we certainly said yes and so did Nebraska.  So we included in our investigative team a detective from the Oregon State Police and an investigator with the Nebraska Department of Revenue who monitors their lottery in Nebraska.  And together, the five of us traveled to Navarro, Italy, to begin our investigation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me to ask maybe the panel on the Grant Thornton that we mentioned earlier.  At least Grant Thornton at the beginning of the first part of the review, says, and I’ll just quote.  It says our work did not constitute an audit or a review of the financial statements or any part thereof, the object of which is the expression of an opinion.  It’s kind of your standard language.  It says on the limited assurance of financial states for a verification of accuracy of management responsive to our inquiry.

So I guess, given that the whole report starts that way, what did Grant Thornton really provide if they are, in essence, saying, you know, at the end of the day, the financial review and the audit is—I mean, they don’t seem to be putting their stamp of approval on it or walking away from it.  I mean, is that just standard language that comes in these reports?  To a layman, maybe you can explain it to me.

MS. BORUCKI:  I don’t think I’m talking a layman, Senator, but, yes, it’s pretty much the disclosure, non-liability clauses.  But for a report that was a good two-and-a-half inches thick, it was pretty thorough their financial arrangements and every other piece of the company in its operations and who they contacted.  They dealt with related parties to the transaction, the corporate structure, the business plan, the business enhancements and growths, their projections, the buyers, just some of the topic areas—customer requirements, financial analysis, financial performance—I mean, it was extremely thorough.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  You mean the Grant Thornton?

MS. BORUCKI:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  I know that we did go through that, and I’ll talk about it with you in a moment.

Let’s go to some of the concerns and then we’ll go onto GTECH, if we could.

I guess in summary, my thought is that GTECH is, and correct me if I’m wrong, will no longer be a trade company in the U.S.; is that correct?

MR. CURRIER:  That is correct. 
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And that therefore, it’s no longer under the jurisdiction of the Security and Exchange Commission?

MR. CURRIER:  That is my understanding, and that has been—I’m sorry.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does that concern anyone here or just me?

MR. RALSTON:  It is a concern.  But to offset that, Lottomatica is required to report to the Milan Stock Exchange authorities which is an entity named CONSOL.  And during our investigation, we contacted the Ministry of Finance who oversees Consov.  We ran our records checks through them but also ran the records through CONSOL.  So any information that may have been in a negative light, we would have received.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does it concern you that the, I guess just passes premiere Corporate Anticorruption Act after Enron which was the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.  You no longer fall under that either; is that correct, GTECH, being listed on the Milan Stock Exchange and being a subsidiary of a privately held company?
MR. CURRIER:  Senator, they’ve given us assurance that they will continue to comply with that act.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Assurances in what way?  Is it a phone call or is it in writing?
MR. CURRIER:  In writing.  I’ve had person-to person discussions but the directors got something in writing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And does the acquisition affect the FCC investigation in Brazil, or are they immune from that or…

MR. CURRIER:  That investigation is open and continuing, and I’m not aware that it has any effect on it whatsoever.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the De Agostini, is that…

MR. RALSTON:  De Agostini…

MR. CURRIER:  De Agostini…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  De Agostini.  Sorry.  That’s not publicly traded—I think I’ve mentioned a couple of times—privately held?
MR. RALSTON:  No.  That consists of two families who own the stock in that company.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  And given that information about the company is harder to gather than it was in prior years?

MR. RALSTON:  Well, there is no public reporting requirements from them.  But as far as the information, when we went there, we interviewed those individuals and fingerprinted them.  So I mean, they are…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Those individuals are going to be there next year?  You’re going to do every year?

MR. RALSTON:  We are going to—yes, we are.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are you, every year going there?  Every time they make an employee change, you’re going to fly over there?  What’s the cost of that?

MS. BORUCKI:  That’s standard procedure for the Lottery—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In Italy?

MS. BORUCKI:  --Senator, for any of our vendors, an of our companies.  Any time there’s a change in management structure, they have to notify us.  They have to disclose, and we go through the process all over again.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So those employee-type changes are, from your vantage point…

MR. CURRIER:  Well, let me clarify that for you, sir, if I could.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MR. CURRIER:  It’s the directors, officers, and shareholders of more than 5 percent, unless they’re privately held, and then it’s any shareholder.  So in the De Agostini case, all the people that have an ownership interest have to make a disclosure to us.  And in the case of Lottomatica that’s a publicly held company, then anyone over 5 percent…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Over 5 percent?
MR. CURRIER:  Five percent and above if they have an ownership interest, unless they’re an institution.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So this isn’t necessarily the entire universe of people working there?

MR. CURRIER:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So we’re clear on it?

MR. CURRIER:  Absolutely, absolutely.  And that’s why I want to clarify that any officers, certainly, and that’s really the key, is the directors and the officers.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And Sarbanes-Oxley, so then we have an assurance in writing that they’re going to continue to operate under that particular provision?

MR. CURRIER:  Yes.  And it is my understanding, the reason that they’re so willing to give that assurance is that they’ve got as rigorous reporting requirements in the Milan Exchange as they did here, so it’s certainly easy.  And they have to make a report to them in writing, in English as well, so…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So tell me what the penalties are if they fail to comply to Sarbanes-Oxley then.
MR. CURRIER:  Well, we’ve got termination provisions in our contract that allow us to terminate.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But didn’t you just say earlier that we kind of, would have some legal exposure, or is that on a different provision?

MR. CURRIER:  Oh, no.  That’s if we, without any cause, withheld our assurances of…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  So cause to you is if they don’t comply with Sarbanes-Oxley…

MR. CURRIER:  Absolutely.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. CURRIER:  And it’s pretty clear in the contract.  If they don’t communicate in a way that they have said that they will, that’s grounds for termination, failure to disclose, and there’s…
UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  There are other grounds for termination.
MR. CURRIER:  Right.  There’s a whole long list of--
SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’ve gotcha.

MR. CURRIER:  --reasons we could terminate the contract.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What about the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act which prohibits the use of bribery worldwide?  Is that—is the GTECH/Lottomatica contract fall under those provisions?

MR. CURRIER:  Any illegal contract, any illegal conduct on the part of GTECH subjects them to termination.  If we feel that their conduct anywhere in the world jeopardizes our integrity, that gives us grounds to terminate the contract.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s go back to some transparency issues; and then hopefully we can close this discussion up.

Lottomatica, because I’ve talked a lot about GTECH, there was information, obviously, publicly available, in terms of fines that Lottomatica has against it.  One of these is a $7.5 million fine.  Did that raise concerns for the Lottery investigators?  Was the Italian government fined for collusion?

MR. RALSTON:  That fine was a result of their telecommunications systems going down for one day.  It had nothing to do with the integrity of Lottomatica itself.  They were totally dispensive of their telecommunications provider.  Now there is a public notice or information out there on an antitrust issue, and we took that very seriously.  We went over there.  We interviewed their chief counsel concerning that incident.  We went to the Ministry of Finance, interviewed their executive director in regards to that incident.  We also went to the antitrust authority and interviewed them also.  And at the end of the day, this was an administrative fine that…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  This is the antitrust?

MR. RALSTON:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  This is the $7.5 million?

MR. RALSTON:  No.  This was 8 million euros.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Eight million euros.  And the other was the 14,000 terminals going down, correct?
MR. RALSTON:  I’m not sure of the number of the terminals.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  One was in 2005; one was in 2003.  Both of those were taken into account, I guess, is the moral of the story.

MR. RALSTON:  The outage of the phone lines was not.  The antitrust was taken very seriously.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And why wasn’t the phone line?
MR. RALSTON:  Because it really has nothing to do with the integrity of the individuals or the company itself.  It was a mechanical failure.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me just ask maybe a few last questions in terms of the safeguards.  The agreement that we have with GTECH that we would keep us informed of corporate dealings, I think, your attorney said that pretty clearly, and disclosure requirements still are at least put forward as somewhat adequate from your vantage point.  Do we not—do we have the ability to put these in place in light of the acquisition?  I mean, is this something that they’re offering us or something that we’re demanding in terms of additional transparency and corporate governance?

MR. CURRIER:  They’ve got disclosure requirements that we could hang our hat on for any discussion of their continued performance on a contract, and the contract is very clear, that if we become dissatisfied with them or their subcontract or personnel, then we can move to terminate the contract.  And I would—that reminds me, Senator, that you had mentioned something about subcontractors when we first started.  And although I apologize for not being intimately familiar with all the terms of the contract, because it is lengthy, there is in our contract oversight clause reference to the performance and oversight and management of their subcontractors, and if we become dissatisfied, we can move to terminate the contract.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess from the code section, you mentioned some of our rights.  The Lottery also has a right to cancel a contract with a vendor if it’s convicted of certain unethical behaviors; is that correct?

MR. CURRIER:  Absolutely.  Yes, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And should we expand that law to include corruption in foreign countries or it’s just simply something that we should…

MR. CURRIER:  I think we have the right to do that anyway.  I mean, it certainly wouldn’t hurt to give us another grounds to go after one of our vendors.  But I think, that if our security division had come back and said we’ve investigated this, the incident in Brazil, and we’re convinced they would not have engaged in that kind of conduct without influence from headquarters which also has influence over our operations here, that would have been a completely different matter and not—of course, again, I wasn’t there, but I know upon the advice of the our security director, I’d feel very comfortable moving to terminate a contract on that basis.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In another country?

MR. CURRIER:  Because the integrity of that company is important worldwide.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, that’s why we’re asking you these questions.  I’m sorry it seems somewhat broad, but it’s kind of our thought.

MR. CURRIER:  No.  We would certainly agree with you on that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You know, I guess my overall on this is that, you know, we were able to quite clearly gather quite a bit of information on the Texas response to this merger, very simply under a website.  We seem to gather a lot of good information.

Why would you—why would one be forced to do that type of due diligence, if you will, through a hearing like this?  Why can’t we have some transparency at the Lottery Commission of a similar nature as Texas?  I mean, maybe we would not even be aware of it if we hadn’t read a story in the newspaper.  I’m sure the commissioners may have known about it.  But I mean, for those of us in the oversight thought process of—at least the legislative committees who oversee these.  I mean, did you guys send us a letter?  I mean, do we have to get your stamp of approval?  But I mean, do we know these things occur?  And when they do occur, what type of research do you provide folks?

MR. CURRIER:  Well, if I’m correct, there are two parts of your question.  It’s about what we did internally as a lottery and a commission and then what communication we had with your office, sir?
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, just in general, just noticed the public, I guess is my thought process.  I mean, is the agenda sufficient?  Is the information, if someone wanted to look at this merger, sufficient for people?  I mean, Fred Jones is here.  You know, normally, he’s banging on our door before anything comes out.  You know, I don’t know if we called him or he called us.  But I mean, it’s one of those things where, how is the public in these types—I mean, these types of decisions where we’re using companies that had somewhat of a spotty past and our staffs say we’ll have to piece together some of this via the Texas Lottery Internet website.  And yet if we find it more difficult other than the Grant Thornton report to piece together the investigative track and how it’s being planned, no presentation to speak of in terms of the commission.  I mean, how do we…

MR. RALSTON:  As far as the Texas information, when they went public with their commission, they only discussed things that were publicly known to them that was disclosed to GTECH through the various corporate filings.  They did not discuss the content of their official investigative report.  Neither have we.  The report is highly confidential,  It contains references to many sensitive, personal information that is not deemed to public disclosure.  So any information they disclosed wasn’t anything that we would have done.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Do you have any other things you’d like to add or close with?

MR. MASS:  I think that you make some very valid points, and I welcome the opportunity to discuss them with you.  I want to be clear.  My opinion is that the agenda has been very transparent.  The process that we went through was transparent.  It started almost a year ago where in public forums it was posted of what the agenda items would be.  It was discussed.  They had an opportunity of the public to speak to it.  This is obviously a large transaction.  The company that was bought for a great deal of money that was reported in business sections and newspapers and periodicals all over the world.  So my opinion was and is, that there was a lot of notice, a great deal of opportunity that those people that felt that they may be impacted or affected by this transaction could speak to us and that I would have welcomed in that public forum or in any forum the opportunity to speak with them and address any questions.  If I didn’t have the answers, then to speak to the acting director or to counsel.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Appreciate that.
Okay, if we could have GTECH representatives.
MR. ROBERT VINCENT:  Mr. Chairman, my name is Robert Vincent.  I’m vice-president of corporate communications and public affairs at GTECH Corporation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m sorry.  Your title again.

MR. VINCENT:  Vice-President for corporate communications and public affairs.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Communications and public affairs.

MR. VINCENT:  I’ve been actively involved in the due-diligence process.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How long have you been with GTECH?

MR. VINCENT:  I’ve been affiliated with the company approximately 16 years.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And you work for the company?

MR. VINCENT:  I do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the GTECH board members that now serve under Lottomatica board, who are they?

MR. VINCENT:  Robert Dewey who is the former chairman of the GTECH Corporation, James McCaan who is the chairman and CEO of the 1-800-FLOWERS Company, and there are Bruce Turner who is our—was formerly CEO of GTECH and is CEO of Lottomatica.  And I’m forgetting one other.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And how many members of the board are U.S. citizens?

MR. VINCENT:  Four.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Four?  And how big is the board?

MR. VINCENT:  There are 13.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thirteen.  Okay.  And who determines the members of the board?

MR. VINCENT:  Well, Lottomatica is majority owned by the De Agostini companies, the De Agostini group, and obviously they are the people who control the board.  But there are 51 percent—there’s a majority of independent directors on the board.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Got it.  The way the voting structure is set, the investors, the large group, can determine who sits on the board?

MR. VINCENT:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Irrespective of the publicly held shares, the way it’s structured?

MR. VINCENT:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And where will the senior management reside?  Is that going to be Italy or the U.S.?

MR. VINCENT:  They reside in the U.S.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In the U.S.  Is that where they’re going to reside?

MR. VINCENT:  That’s correct.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how will that have an impact on the operations of the United States?

MR. VINCENT:  I’m not sure I understand your question.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does that have an impact?  So in other words, they’re here…

MR. VINCENT:  Is this on?  I’m not sure I put it on…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  A little closer.

MR. VINCENT:  I’ve got a bit of a cold.  I’m sorry.  Could you repeat your question?  I’m not sure I understood the nature of your…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  There’s not going to be any impact; is that correct?  They’re not going to be in Italy?  They’re going to be here?
MR. VINCENT:  Well, we’re a worldwide company, and most of our senior management is at one time or another on the road.  We operate in 50 countries around the globe in about 100 jurisdictions that are contained in those countries.  So obviously with that number of contracts, we’re a very global institution to begin with.  Lottomatica, essentially their operations there, there’s a group—the combined entity is Grupo Lottomatica.  And they are—Lottomatica is a publicly traded entity for the corporation.  They are traded on the Milan Exchange, but the GTECH headquarters is in Rhode Island. The managers reside there on Rhode Island.  There is a general manager of the Italian operations, but he resides in Italy.  They obviously are the license holder for the Italian Lottery and have approximately 1,000 employees in Italy and operations throughout the country.  They’re one of the largest lotteries in the world.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  So from your vantage point, GTECH is still in the position, given the management operation to fulfill California’s…

MR. VINCENT:  The goal of Lottomatica and the De Agostini group in doing this merger was twofold.  Obviously, they wanted to grow into an international company, and they thought the best way to do that is through their holdings in Lottomatica.  They have holdings in numerous entities, both in insurance, media, and publishing.  They’re about a century-old corporation that I would liken them to in Europe where you, in the United States, you might think of Rand McNally.  In Europe, you think of De Agostini, their cartographers and publishers that go back about a century.
They were looking to grow their company, but they also acknowledged at the same time that they did not have an international management team or a team with the capabilities to manage that type of entity.  So while they are looking for an investment, they are also looking for a management team.  So in that sense, it was a reverse merger, if you will, where the management team at GTECH, as part of the transaction, was required to sign five-year management contracts and also to invest approximately half or some percentage of their after-tax holdings from the GTECH stock that would have been, that they would have received at the closing.  So from the vice-president level on up in the company, the managers are committed to the company through employment contracts as well as investments.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  In terms of the Grant Thornton report, it indicated that the company would be going through a corporate structure or a corporate restructure after the merger.  Has that taken place or is that still ongoing?

MR. VINCENT:  Yes.  Well, obviously, you have to, in order to implement that kind of a merger, you need to go through certain actions that—part of what was found in the Grant Thornton report or what was noticed in the Grant Thornton report and provided to most of the lotteries around the world was that we employed best practices, in what are considered to be industry best practices, when it comes to compliance, accounting, and the like.  And they wanted to make certain that we transported those type of practices that we have over to Lottomatica.  They complimented Lottomatica on the procedures that they used but noted that GTECH’s procedures they thought were more comprehensive and asked that we port those over and we have done that.  We’re in the process of completing that.  So our accounting systems, our compliance systems, the types of compliance rules and regulations that we have internally are being applied to Lottomatica as well.

I would add that there’s been discussion of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Go ahead.

MR. VINCENT:  Would you prefer to ask a question?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.

MR. VINCENT:  Okay.  The rules that govern the Milan Exchange and most of the European Exchanges of the major European countries really mirror those that are employed in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.  In certain cases, particularly when we’re doing the independent directors and the like, they exceed.  So it was not a big concession on our part to say that we would provide similar-type reporting that was done under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.  They also have anti-corruption acts that take place that are very similar to some of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act that we have here in the United States.  So those safeguards and those regulations, while they’re not the U.S. regulation that we’re all more familiar with from day-to-day reading of the newspaper, they do exist and they’re quite comprehensive.  The reporting that we do in Italy is done in English.  It’s available on their website; it’s available on the Lottomatica website; it’s also available on the government entities website.

We’ve also taken the added step of saying that we would report to lottery customers in the U.S. under U.S. GAP standards, in General Accounting Procedures, so that they would not see a change because the European—the international reporting, accounting/reporting standards are somewhat different.  So that they would have continuity of reporting, we’ve agreed to also report our results in U.S. GAP.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  There was some discussion, I think, earlier today about the outside vendors, and it seems as though Lottomatica has a greater dependence on outside vendors than GTECH had.  How is that going to work?

MR. VINCENT:  Our view of it is that Lottomatica in Italy becomes our biggest internal customer.  So whereas in the past, they would—excuse me—they would have employed a systems company somewhat like GTECH to provide it systems or its terminals or its communications networks.  We really are at the point now—they’ve just procured a large terminal, a large body of terminals so they won’t be needing terminals for quite sometime.  But we are using it as a test bed and as an internal customer for our products and our services, and that’s just begun.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In information systems, information security, I think I mentioned earlier, beyond the employee background check, those working from a merger-company perspective, going to merged for, a kind to scale, or is this something that’s separate or apart?

MR. VINCENT:  We have a code of conduct that’s fairly comprehensive and all our employees are required annually to be certified in that code of conduct as well as to agree to it at the point of employment by the company.  But each one is annually certified and they go through training as well.  Lottomatica has a similar code of conduct.  I’m involved in leading an effort to harmonize those codes and their corporate governance procedures because they have them but they are not contained in one place as ours are, and they’ve agreed to comply with our code of conduct and our corporate governance and compliance procedures.  That was really part of what our lottery customers in the U.S. asked us to consider and we said we’d do that.

I would add as well that one of the things of the Grant Thornton report, we’ve also agreed to have Grant Thornton, through its relationship with NASPL, to come back in about a year’s time afterwards to audit—well, audit, not in the sense of audit the books but in a sense review the commitments we’ve made to them and to our customers and report back to our customers and we are funding that activity as well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  One of the things Grant Thornton mentioned was that, at least setting for user access to the company’s computer systems, was inadequate, at least at Lottomatica and Italy.  Is there any steps to…

MR. VINCENT:  I believe they said that they were not—they were of a certain level of security that ours will hire, and they wanted us to increase that and they’ve agreed to do so, as have we, although they did not think that it was inadequate; they didn’t think it was a security risk.  They just thought that they could be improved and brought to the level of GTECH’s and we’ve agreed to do so, and that process is on the way as well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay. And when would that process be completed?

MR. VINCENT:  I’m sorry.  I don’t have a timeline for it.  But I know it’s actively reviewed and underway.  I don’t.  But it’s a matter of months, not years.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the Grant Thornton, it also talked about the disaster recovery preparedness at Lottomatica with respect to data systems.  I guess earlier we had just heard that in terms of the integration of one side, which is, I think I heard you stated there would be some integration, varied integration?

MR. VINCENT:  Yes.  If I could describe it, it’s…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It just seems to say that we ought to merge, so which one is it?

MR. VINCENT:  I don’t believe I understand the nature of your question, sir.  If I can describe it, what’s going on.  GTECH has been managing, as I mentioned earlier, approximately 100 contracts throughout the globe with various either jurisdictions or countrywide lotteries.  Very much Italy becomes another jurisdiction that reports up into the management structure in that one sense is how the company is managed.
The other aspect of that is Italy is also the—Lottomatica is also the vehicle, the holding company by which the stock is traded, so it’s in one sense the Italian operations, if you will, that run the Italian lottery become another reporting operation within the company, and we’ll bring it up to our standards as far as data service, central service, and the like.  And as far as the corporate governance of the holding company, we’ve agreed to take a number of steps there that are written down and committed to in the Grant Thornton report and they’re underway now.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  One of the employees—I know we talked about the California Lottery to go and check on some of these employees.  The Grant Thornton report indicated there was no background investigations that are required for new Lottomatica employees or vendors which seems somewhat astonishing to me.  Is there any modification of this?

MR. VINCENT:  Well, I think if you find throughout Europe, there are privacy laws in place that prohibit those kinds of searches, those kinds of background checks on employees as they enter employment.  It’s not true for vendors.  You can and they do waive, as a requirement of being a vendor to that company, waive those types of privacy rights that they may have in order to do background checks and they are done.  At the same time, they do have a comprehensive code of conduct that any and all employees are required to sign and agree to or abide by once they are employed there.  We are obviously looking at ways in which we can bring their standards up to ours and have committed to do so, but what we encounter—and this is not unusual just in Italy but throughout Europe—there is very strong privacy laws when it comes to employment relative to doing any sort of background check prior to their employment.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So at least from an employee point of view, the vendors I’ve got, said employees then will have a different—how do the employees work again?  I’m sorry.

MR. VINCENT:  The employees, the various employment laws in Europe and in Italy do not allow for criminal background checks or financial background checks of employees.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess that’s the question I have then.  Is there then none, or there will be none?

MR. VINCENT:  As I said, they currently right now are asked to sign a code of conduct that would prohibit any illegal activity, and I think you probably recognize the code as being similar to many codes that companies have, and we are working with Lottomatica to devise ways that they will bring their compliance program in line with ours to the extent that the law allows it.  But I don’t have a direct answer for you now as to what that system will be, other than we have committed to do whatever we can within the confines of the law to make sure their compliance structures mirror GTECH’s.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That would bring me to my question then, Given the law that affects the European workers, I assume, will Lottomatica, Italian employees, work on lottery contracts for state lotteries in the U.S.?

MR. VINCENT:  No.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  They will not?

MR. VINCENT:  No.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So I think that’s the distinction.

MR. VINCENT:  It’s a separate operation.  And it’s very different than our other operations.  In California, we are a vendor.  We’re supplying a service.  And in Italy, they actually were awarded the license so they are the Italian Lottery.  And they monitor some 70,000 locations throughout the country and have about a thousand employees that do that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can you talk maybe about some of the financial aspects of the transaction of Lottomatica and GTECH.  The bond rating at this point is, I believe, Standard & Poor’s BBB-; Moody’s a BAAA3.  Is that a normal—I mean, these are…
MR. VINCENT:  No.  Actually, it’s kind of exceptional in our industry.  We’re the only company that maintains an investment-grade credit rating, and that was a requirement of the deal that we do so.  None of the other companies in the lottery industry that we complete with are able to achieve that rating.  It was very important to the investors at Lottomatica, as well as the GTECH going forward, that we have investment-grade credit ratings and maintain those credit ratings.  This began as an effort by an equity acquisition to take the company private which would have layered it, as you are familiar from your past, sort of layered a fair amount of debt on it.  And frankly, that probably would not have been an acceptable merger acquisition by our customers.  I think we heard that from everyone, and they took a great deal of comfort, as did Grant Thornton, and the other folks who reviewed the merger, with the fact that we would have investment credit ratings and we would maintain that going forward.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask you a question in terms of the asset base.  Any commitments to put additional capital to this merged company in terms of financial?

MR. VINCENT:  The folks at De Agostini have assured us that we have a growth plan that we’ve put in place, that I think we’ve shared just in general with most of our customers, that we intend to grow GTECH further from where we are today.  We enjoy a market-dominant position right now but really look for continued opportunities to grow, and we’ve been assured by our shareholders that, if needed, they will provide the resources for us to grow.  I think it’s demonstrated by the fact, that when we raise the $4.65 billion, part of that was a $1.5 billion rights offering that the owners of Lottomatica had to put in. So they put their own money into the deal, as did the management here, so we’re confident the resources are there for us to meet our current contractual obligations but to grow as well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are you privy to give us some general information on why this merger took place?

MR. VINCENT:  Well, we were always owned by—GTECH holdings was always a public entity and held by a public entity.  We, as you would recognize from the previous experience, we are a company that enjoys great visibility into our future earnings.  We have long-term contracts, a great, stable revenue source that’s quite predictable.  Most of our contracts extend seven to ten years.  So when you look at that and you look at the revenues we’re able to generate in this marketplace with the amount of equity that’s out there, we became an attractive target for that.  But I will say, that once we went through that exercise, Lottomatica was invited to come in as an investor in an original equity deal.  As the equity investors fell off, Lottomatica stepped up and it went from being an investment to a strategic investment on their part as a vehicle for them to grow.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So GTECH wasn’t facing any sort of financial difficulties?

MR. VINCENT:  To the contrary.  We were, I think, enjoying very good ratings by our analysts and the stock was trading at near all-time highs, as a matter of fact.  I’ll harken back to that.  We had tremendous cash flows as well as very little debt.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In terms of the auditing function of Lottomatica, is that a self-audit, think it was mentioned earlier?
MR. VINCENT:  Well, it is but it is very much similar to a publicly traded company in the United States.  They have an independent audit, and it’s required of them.  That audit is filed by normal international auditing organizations and filed with the government, and the government relies on those independent audits and they’re done annually as a publicly traded company in the United States, we’d have it done.  And I believe they’re done by Ernst & Young.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the internal controls, those are Lottomatica-driven or GTECH driven in terms of what will continue in the company?

MR. VINCENT:  This is similarly, as we go, looking at internal controls related to accounting and finances, they have what we believe to be good and adequate controls in place, but we will be migrating them to systems that GTECH maintains because we think that we prefer them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I think I mentioned earlier to the Lottery attorney or counsel, if there’s violations of any of the provisions, their ability to end a contract, is that your understanding as well?

MR. VINCENT:  Most of our contracts throughout the world have termination for convenience clauses.  Essentially that gives any of our customers is a pretty strong hand in dealing with us because clearly our assets are based on our ability to maintain highly diverse systems with great integrity.  And the minute that one of them says that we have not met the integrity standard that goes forward and questions whether we are licensable and, I might add, at the same time, seeking gaming licenses throughout the world, both in Nevada, New Jersey, and major gaming licensing locations because we supply VLTs to those locations, they are very aggressive in the manner in which they look at their background checks and the like.  We really need to maintain not only our goodwill but our good standing with all of our customers.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask one more question.  In terms of the entities that are reporting, in terms of an audit, is that GTECH itself or is that Lottomatica/GTECH?  Is it just Lottomatica?

MR. VINCENT:  You know, to think of it in more simpler terms, Lottomatica, in their Italian operations, and GTECH, in our in our international, are brand names.  There’s one Lottomatica holding company, Lottomatica S.P.A., as it’s referred to in Italy, and so it’s not one or the other.  It’s an audit that’s done, not only similar to the United States.  The chief officers of the company have to swear to the results that they’re putting in, that they’re true and honest to the best of their knowledge.  That’s similar to what is done under Sarbanes- Oxley and is also done in Italy.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of being a foreign-owned company conducting business with the United States, Lottomatica, I think I mentioned it earlier, being subject to the Foreign Corruption Practices Act, is that something…

MR. VINCENT:  I’m not an attorney.  I know that there are similar acts in Italy, but obviously if we commit a crime in any jurisdiction, you’re going to be subject to the rules and laws of that jurisdiction as not as we are an Italian-based company.  In that sense, you’re a similar Foreign Corrupt Practices Act does exist in Italy and we would be subject to that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me just get you take, so you have at least some opportunity to comment on the conversation we had about some of the past practices with GTECH that I was mentioning earlier to the Lottery officials about new members or even members of the Legislature, or others being aware of our vendors and past actions, et cetera.  Any thoughts on that in terms of Brazil or some of the incidents that are currently…

MR. VINCENT:  I can speak with about as much authority as anyone in the company.  But any of the particular incidents, I can say that the company has a history of some things that have occurred and they’ve been well documented and well publicized.  Those individuals have not been with the company, particularly, the founders of the company, have not been with the company for over a decade and were forced to leave by the board of directors.  When the board, a new management team took over at GTECH approximately six years ago headed by Bruce Turner, and the board gave him one charge, which was to make sure that GTECH was considered one of the best, most compliant, and best governed companies in the country.  We did that in response to scandals and issues that we had encountered, frankly.
So we responded to that and in doing so put in some best practices, particularly in the area of compliance, that I think are by far the standard, the highest standard of anyone in our industry.  That is not to say we won’t encounter issues anywhere throughout the globe.  In Brazil, GTECH was the target of a well-organized, high-level extortion scheme by people within the government as well as the ruling party.  We responded to that.  Essentially, we were looking for a contract extension, and it was implied to us that we needed to bring on a consultant and pay them somewhere in the vicinity of $20 million.  That was quickly rejected by our folks in our government affairs committee.  It’s a committee that I serve on.  Any and all outside relationships are reviewed by that committee.  And in Brazil, we’ve handled, while it’s a very contemptuous, difficult, political environment in which to operate, we think we’ve done so with a great deal of integrity and our compliance systems work there.  The board took the unusual step of actually having an independent investigation of its own, of our Brazilian operation, when these matters came to it.  We did a forensic audit of all of the monies we’ve spent there.  It’s a $100 million-a-year operation, so it was a very extensive audit that was done for any and all payments made that organization and any and all outside relationships that they had entered into and that satisfied them, and I think we’ve provided that both to the FCC and any other investigative authorities that have come to look at us.  And it satisfied us that not that there wasn’t a controversy there—there is—but that we have handled it and responded to it in a way that they found not only adequate but admirable.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  You said one of the, you said the specifics too maybe that they asked you about, it was the Texas Department of Public Safety I was mentioning earlier to the Lottery, and it talked about internal investigation of incidents in Brazil which resulted in a written report, and at least on their site talked about a report that GTECH initially denied existed.  And GTECH had then promised that report to Texas investigators…

MR. VINCENT:  I can tell you, having testified in Texas as well as before its legislature and its commission, that we have provided to them any and all documents, and they had some confusion as to what documents were being referred to because they used different titles than we did.  They have been provided those documents as the FCC.  I think it was noted earlier that the information raised in the Texas report that was brought out to the Texas commission was information that we provided and that was volunteered by us as part of that.

In the terms of Brazil, I would also add that we, once the scandal in Brazil evolved or took place, we put out on our website an entire section on it and made sure that all the FCC documents were available to people.  We provided documents to the FCC and made public notice of what was going on there outside of our normal quarterly reporting but also as part of our quarterly reporting, and made certain that anyone, whether they be public or reporters or investigators, had that information and that the Texas Department was provided any and all documents that they requested.  I think there was confusion about it.  It’s since been cleared up, to my knowledge.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Given that, so there was maybe a mix up of that particular document, would it be possible to provide the committee with your internal investigation of the Brazilian matter?

MR. VINCENT:  No.  It would not.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  It would not what?

MR. VINCENT:  It’s not a public document, and we have provided it to investigators under the normal confidentiality agreements.  We would not provide it to a legislative body.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do our investigators here at the California Lottery have it?

MR. VINCENT:  I’m not sure.  It’s available to them if they’d like to see it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  It’s available to them if they’d like to see it.  So I’ll ask Ms. Borucki if she would like to see it.  If not…
MR. VINCENT:  It was made available to the Grant Thornton reviewers as well as to Brown Rudnick which was the group that they hired by Rhode Island, the Rhode Island Lottery, to review that contract.  If I may comment on the Rhode Island situation because it was brought up…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You think a state legislative body has some hesitancy in terms of investigating vendors that may not comply with requests?

MR. VINCENT:  I don’t understand the nature of your question.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What would be the difference between providing it to the California Lottery and providing to the legislature?

MR. VINCENT:  If the legislature had an investigatory unit that was going enter into the normal types of—because you’re dealing with highly confidential situations—we’ve provided them to other public bodies, so I don’t have a problem with—I would have a problem reading it into the record here.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  I’ve gotcha.  You just made my case.  I hope Senator Perata listening out there.  We need an investigative committee here in the California State Senate at some point beyond the state auditors.  But, yes…

MR. VINCENT:  And obviously, if a legislative body had a state auditor and an auditing function, we’ve provided it to them, we’ve provided it to other state legislative auditing functions.  I don’t mean to say that you’re…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  It’s a very friendly question asked.  I just wondered how that might work.

One other question I have, just from your vantage point, is that from your viewpoint of this particular merger—and this is the last question I have—did you, yourself, as the company just see this as kind of a standard—everything was going to be run the same in California, very little difference, and therefore we should just move forward in getting this negative assurance and things we can proceed on, or is this some sort of major change that the Californians should expect in terms of the running of its lottery?

MR. VINCENT:  It will be a seamless transition; it has been a seamless transition for them.  They won’t see any change in personnel or a change in the level of service.  We’ll meet our contractual obligations and continue on under that.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, sir.  Appreciate it.

MR. VINCENT:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Fred Jones.  You’re at the dais.  Thanks, Fred, for joining us.

MR. FRED JONES:  Thank you for having me, Chairman.  I am Fred Jones.  I’m here on behalf of the California Coalition Against Gambling Expansion.  CCAGE was formed back in 2000.  However, our sister organization, the California Counsel on Alcohol Problems, was formed in California in 1939.  Over the course of several decades, the board and membership of the California Counsel on Alcohol Problems gravitated toward two issues of public policy concern, both alcohol and gambling.  Rather than continue to come before the legislature on gambling issues and introduce the California Counsel on Alcohol Problems, we decided in 2000 to form a sister organization with the name appropriate to the issue of gambling.  So that’s a little history. 
We are primarily a faith-based organization with over 9,000 congregations on our mailing list and about 1,200 individuals, concerned both about alcohol and gambling in California.  I want to stress at the outset, we are not a watchdog organization.  We are a public policy advocacy association.  We do not have the resources to be a watchdog of the various agencies and companies involved in the two issues of concern to our organizations.  I also don’t believe that this committee is a watchdog and doesn’t have the resources or mandate, but it is an oversight committee and a policy committee as well.  And I think that’s an important statement to make in light of some testimony earlier.  And I want to thank this committee for having this informational hearing.  I frankly have, and this is the theme of my short comments, have much more questions than I have answers to provide this committee.

I’d like to kind of juxtapose the current Lottery Commission’s decisions with the history of the Lottery Act, as this committee and Mr. Chairman knows, that the Lottery was created in 1984 with the ostensible purpose of raising money for public education in California.  And beyond the immediate concern of gambling in the Lottery and is this an appropriate means of raising public revenues, the second most important issue to that debate was the integrity of the operations of such a gambling operation which would be supported and, at least according to the Lottery Act, run by state officials, accountable to the people of California.  And I think from an historical vantage point, the outcome of that fairly close election would have been dramatically different had the voters been told one of the first acts of this Lottery Commission upon being formed to join a multi-state lottery and have other states help conduct the Lottery.  And maybe our second act would be to control, to switch the operational control of California’s Lottery to two Italian families.  I think the voters would have had a quite different reaction.  But essentially, the Lottery Commission has made these decisions based upon the voters’ decisions and the Lottery Act that was created in 1984.  So I think it’s an important juxtaposition to make.

On the issue of this international scope now that our Lottery has taken and basically as your questions and the responses have fairly clearly illustrated, the privately held nature of the control now of our operations here in California by those living abroad bring up all sorts of questions.  Leaving aside some of the scandals, which are very public, with Lottomatica, with GTECH, with the controlling interests, we know and you know, Senator Florez, that the term integrity, especially in the political environment, has both a substantive as well as a perceptive nature to it.  Substantively again, I have more questions than answers to provide any substance.  But perceptively and politically, I think this has deep concerns.  And the more I’ve sat and listened and researched about the companies and interests and private families that have control and the degree by which GTECH runs and operates our State Lottery, the more perception concerns I have.

I believe that negative assurance is an awfully low burden.  And given the very clear provisions and strictures of our California Lottery Act, I don’t believe that it goes anywhere near the appropriate burden that is placed in law upon the Lottery Commission.  These are high stakes.  There’s a lot of money involved, and there’s high stakes not just for California citizens and organizations concerned about gambling and the Lottery in particular.  This was obviously high stakes for Lottomatica.  According to my best read, and nothing said today refutes it, it seems apparent that Lottomatica is not going to do this high-stakes, very expensive buyout, absent California, signing on and agreeing to the merger in advance.  That agreement was made by the acting Lottery Commission director in mid-July.  And the merger, which was supposed to happen months earlier, then happened almost immediately thereafter.  So this was a pivotal, pivotal client, as it were, to Lottomatica, the state of California.  These were high stakes, not just for California schools, for those who purchased Lottery tickets in California, and for our public in which the Lottery impacts communities, but also for the major interests in this merger.  As such, you would think, given the high stakes on all interested parties that the Lottery Commission, which is the only appointed body charged expressly with directing Lottery operations, would have gone the extra length in making sure all interested parties, any potential perception and concern, were responded to affirmatively and in advance.  And instead, as just one person who tries to stay involved in public policy advocacy, I didn’t know anything about this until I read it in the newspaper.  In fact, I was approached by a reporter asking me about it.  Again, I’m not blaming the Lottery Commission for not going out of their way for letting Fred Jones personally know about this, but it does call into question, if an organization like mine, if a committee like this chaired by a senator like you, weren’t given advanced information and a heads up on something of such high stakes, there’s something wrong.
I don’t know if this is a sin of omission or if maybe people made a calculated risk.  I think that was a term a prior director used to use in defending the mega millions venture.  But the cost would outweigh the benefits of such an advanced notice.  But given the high stakes of this merger, you think they certainly would have.  It brings in this other issue of accountability, and I want to stress that to this committee and to those and the audience listening.  There’s been a pattern from I would like to say this layman’s perspective, but I am a lawyer so maybe that disqualifies me as being called a layman.  But from my lone perspective and from those that support organizations, we’ve seen a pattern with this Lottery Commission that dates back over the 22 years of existence but most especially pronounced in the last several years.  And this isn’t a partisan thing.  This goes back prior administrations as well with different political affiliations, that it goes to the classic cliché, You give them an inch; they take a mile.  And there are a little bit of inches given in the Lottery Act, and the Lottery Commission and staff have taken miles.

We learned in litigation last year on the mega millions challenge that there are people with the Lottery Commission who believes current law allows them to enter into international lottery games.  Now a nice and easy way of doing that would be to sell tickets on the worldwide web, so it brings in implications about Internet gambling of our Lottery Act.  And now that we have broadened the operations of our California Lottery Act to an international scope, it brings in all sorts of future policy implications that are deeply concerning to me and my organization.

The State of Illinois are in consultation right now with a private company to sell their state Lottery Act for $10 billion.  Give us some money upfront, and we’ll let you privately run a lottery in our state.  I don’t know—clearly our laws would have to be dramatically changed to accommodate such an act.  But Lottomatica has a history of actually running lotteries, being the sole licensee, not the country or any city or province of Italy but actually being the Lottery conductors. I don’t know if that implication is warranted here, but certainly it begs a question.  We’ve seen in recent years new lottery games introduced, very different from the original intent of voters, I believe, over the last several years.  Could this also bring in new forms of lottery games?

And back to my issue of patterns and accountability, Mr. Chair, you mentioned the introductory letter to the Grant Thornton report, can’t call it an audit because they expressly said it wasn’t an audit.  There’s a reason why boilerplate languages are always added to documents like that, and that’s because of fork-tongued attorneys like myself.  And you can bet your bottom dollar, not that I’m a gambling man, that if some scandal happens with this merger and with the operations of the California Lottery Act—and it can be pointed to Italy or some other place outside the United States, Grant Thornton will be hiding behind that boilerplate language.  And so what accountability do we have with Grant Thornton?
I have been troubled by some of the conversations.  And again, I’m admittedly out of the know but I’m also troubled with the accountability within the Lottery Commission itself.  How much information were the appointed members of this commission given, vis-à-vis Lottomatica/GTECH, and the controlling interests to Lottomatica?  And would their decision be different today knowing more information?  And again, if the Lottery commissioners may not be fully privy to some of the concerns implied in this merger, how could we as a public be privy and you as the legislature, our elected officials?

So I’m sorry that I don’t have any real substance to share.  I have mostly questions.  I appreciate this informational hearing.  I appreciated the candor and access that the various interests provided this committee.  I’ve learned a great deal, but I still have many more questions than answers.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

Okay.  Is there anyone from the public that would like to make comment at this time?

I’m about ten minutes passed when I told you we would adjourn, which is two hours, I think, three hours, right?  How many hours?  Two hours.  Okay.

I do want to thank everyone for coming to the informational hearing.  I want to thank the Lottery, our acting director and staff and our investigative person.  Thank you for being here, and we appreciate you attending and giving us your comments.  I also would like to thank GTECH and Lottomatica for providing us some information.

I can tell you that I think overall my gist of this is that we do need to have a continued dialog and an open, public dialog with our Lottery.  I think it’s a healthy thing to discuss, at least sometimes from even a legislative point of view, major changes in directions.  It may not be seen as a major change for some.  But for us, it was rather concerning and continues to be concerning in terms of the amount of transparency provided in terms of the change that was just made.

I do look forward to working with the Lottery as we go forward on this particular contract.  I can tell you that we do want to continue to practice oversight.  It’s one of the main charges of this committee, is to make sure that we are looking out, in many cases, in the public realm, for these types of changes that I consider somewhat major.  And so thank you very much.  We appreciate your time and we will adjourn the G.O. Committee hearing.
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